RECEIVED

Sep 11 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse,
Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2026-000024

CASE NO. 2025-CP-04-00784

Von Hollen Investment, LLC Appellant,

v.

Anderson County Planning Commission Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

s/Ronald G. Tate, Jr.
Ronald G. Tate, Jr., S.C. Bar No. 5475
Carter R. Massingill, S.C. Bar No. 101802
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.
Post Office Box 10589 (29603)
55 Beattie Place, Suite 1200
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
864-271-9580
rtate@gwblawfirm.com
cmassingill@gwblawfirm.com
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE SUMMARY DECISION FORMS UTILIZED BY THE PLANNING COMMISSION FAIL TO ARTICULATE DISCERNABLE GROUNDS FOR DENYING A SUBDIVISION APPLICATION IN VIOLATION OF § 6-29-1150(B) AND PREVENT A MEANINGFUL REVIEW OF THE DECISIONS AS REQUIRED UNDER THIS COURT'S PRECEDENT?
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DECIDING THE PLANNING COMMISSION'S DECISIONS WERE SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE WHEN THERE WAS NO COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL AND MATERIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD, RENDERING THE COMMISSION'S DECISIONS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS?
- III. DID THE PLANNING COMMISSION VIOLATE APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS AND SOUTH CAROLINA LAW BY RELYING ON A DOCUMENT THAT WAS NOT PROVIDED TO APPELLANT, NOT ENTERED INTO THE RECORD, AND NOT PRESERVED AS A PUBLIC RECORD MUST?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a decision of the Anderson County Planning Commission denying Appellant's Subdivision Plat Application ("Application") concerning property that Appellant owns and planned to develop in Anderson County known as "Riverdale" ("the Project"). On two occasions, March 11, 2025, and September 9, 2025, Respondent denied the Application.

On April 7, 2025, Appellant filed its initial Notice of Appeal and Request for Pre-litigation Mediation in the Circuit Court related to the March 11, 2025, decision. The appeal to the Circuit Court was made pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(D). Respondent filed and served its response to the Notice of Appeal on May 8, 2025.

Because Appellant requested mediation pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1155, a mediation conference was conducted. Following the mediation conference, the Application came back before the Planning Commission on September 9, 2025. The Commission again denied Appellant's Application.

On October 9, 2025, Appellant amended its Notice of Appeal in the Circuit Court to include its appeal of the September 9, 2025 decision. Respondent filed its response to the amended Notice of Appeal on November 7, 2025.

A hearing was conducted in the Circuit Court on November 10, 2025. The Circuit Court heard arguments and took the matter under advisement. On November 25, 2025, the Circuit Court issued an Order denying the appeal. On December 5, 2025, Appellant filed its Motion to Reconsider the Circuit Court's Order pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. The Circuit Court denied Appellant's Motion to Reconsider on December 9, 2025. Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court on January 5, 2026.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Findings of fact by a planning commission must be treated in the same manner as a finding of fact by a jury. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-840; Alliance to Preserve the Old White Horse Road Corridor v. RP&L, LLC, 447 S.C. 649, 930 S.E.2d 21 (Ct. App. 2026). However, the deferential standard of review in an appeal from a planning commission is not a mandate for a court to rubber-stamp an arbitrary decision. This deference is contingent upon the existence of competent, substantial evidence in the record. See Wyndham Enterprises, LLC v. City of North Augusta, 401 S.C. 144, 735 S.E.2d 659 (Ct. App. 2012). A decision that lacks such evidentiary support, or is otherwise arbitrary, capricious, or characterized by an abuse of discretion, constitutes an error of law and must be reversed. Restaurant Row Assocs. v. Horry County, 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999); Grays Hill Baptist Church v. Beaufort County, 431 S.C. 630, 637, 850 S.E.2d 29, 33 (2020).

The South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act requires the Commission to document the specific grounds for approval or disapproval in the public record. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(B). As recently clarified in Alliance to Preserve the Old White Horse Road Corridor, LLC v. RP&L, LLC, a record that fails to provide discernible grounds for the Commission's action—thereby preventing a reviewing court from "understand[ing] the Planning Commission's [decision] in light of the evidence before it" is legally insufficient. Alliance, 447 S.C. at 657, 930 S.E.2d at 26.

ARGUMENT

The decisions of the Planning Commission and the Order of the Circuit Court should be reversed because the Planning Commission decisions were arbitrary, capricious and unsupported by any evidence in the record. Moreover, those decisions were communicated to the Appellant in a summary fashion, with no findings of fact, and the decisions provided Appellant with no meaningful guidance as to how its development could be approved in the future. Further, the Planning Commission considered an alleged letter from a local fire chief that was not placed in the record or presented to the Appellant. This deprived Appellant of its due process rights. These deficiencies violate the requirements of South Carolina statutes and a recent decision of this Court as well as Appellant's constitutional rights.

A. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Von Hollen Investment LLC owns a tract of land consisting of 82.79 acres of property in an unzoned area of Anderson County. Appellant intended to develop its property to create 52 new single family home sites. The surrounding land use, as noted by the Planning Commission's Staff's Report is residential. (Record at 36).

Appellant hired qualified design professionals to prepare the plat. Planning staff presented the project to the Planning Commission at both the March and September 2025 hearings and stated that the project met the requirements of Chapter 24 for land use in Anderson County and that the Project did not require a traffic study. (Record at 82, 94). The Project was relatively small and was in an unzoned portion of the County, but for reasons that were never clearly communicated to the owner, the Planning Commission twice denied its Application.

The reasons for denial were communicated in a vague and inconsistent manner on two check-the-box forms. The decisions themselves were without factual basis and were arbitrary and capricious. Moreover, while the developer presented substantial evidence backed by expert

analysis and opinion by design professionals as well as the expertise of the Planning Commission's professional staff, the only contrary "evidence" that could possibly support the Commission's decisions consisted of anecdotal feelings and opinions of lay people who appeared at the hearings to protest the development. Plainly, the Commission ignored its own rules, ignored its statutory duties and even ignored its own expert staff. In short, the Commission bowed to public outcry while ignoring the facts and the law.

The Application therefore came to the Planning Commission for the first public hearing on March 11, 2025. The owner's civil engineer spoke and described the project:

- 52 homes on 83 acres: all lots were more than half-acre each.
- Density is less than one home per acre.
- 50% of the property would be common area.
- 35 acres of open space including wetlands, buffer zones and flood plain.
- Three acres is dedicated to right of way to Anderson County.
- Three connections to state and county roads "to disperse traffic."
- Forty-foot setbacks will be provided off both access roads and trees will be preserved.
- Stormwater runoff from the development would be diverted to detention ponds, improving the runoff situation for a neighboring subdivision.

(Record at 82)

A number of citizens spoke at the March 2025 Planning Commission hearing. Their generalized concerns were largely irrelevant and unsupported by facts. The following are representative comments in the record:

- A neighbor was "worried about the drainage" and water flowing onto his property (Record at 83) notwithstanding the engineer's assurances to the contrary.
- Lay opinion that Von Hollen Road "not in any condition to handle any more traffic" (*Id.*) notwithstanding that the small project did not require a traffic impact study.
- Lay opinion, without basis, that the soil was not suitable for septic and "does not perc at all." (*Id.*).
- Lay opinion, without basis, that Von Hollen Road is "dangerously congested" (Record at 84).
- Lay opinion without support that emergency response was already "stretched thin."

(*Id.*)

- The same speaker opined that school overcrowding was in crisis (*Id.*), that her privacy would be impacted by having headlights from cars using the entrances shining into her home, and she speculated that a car could crash into her home. (Record at 85)
- A speaker gave his opinion that the County needs to prioritize road improvements and “we need infrastructure that can keep pace with the population growth.” (*Id.*) This is irrelevant to the discussion of this project as it is the province of county councils to provide roads adequate to serve the population.
- The same speaker gave a litany of other concerns including water pressure, burden on schools, wetlands, soil permeability, wetlands, and septic tanks. (Record at 86)
- A speaker opined without foundation that growth was “dehumanizing our kids” and children are considered “collateral and data mining collections.” (Record at 87)
- A speaker speculated without any basis there might be gravesites on the property. (Record at 90)
- The same speaker asked for a 75-foot riparian buffer (*Id.*) though no such buffer is required in the land-use ordinances.

Commissioner Jane Jones seemed to testify as a witness against the development and commented on road conditions, water runoff and drainage into a creek. She then made a motion to deny the Application based on “the inadequacy of the infrastructure. That includes all phases of it, the schools, the roads, the emergency service, *all the different types of infrastructure.*” (Record at 92). The Planning Commission voted to deny the Application. The decision was communicated on a preprinted form and the reasons for the denial are discussed below.

With the initial notice of appeal to the Circuit Court of the Planning Commission’s March decision, Appellant filed a request for mediation. The Owner mediated with the Planning Commission, and the Application was resubmitted following mediation. On September 9, 2025, the Application came for another hearing before the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission staff presented the project consistently with its presentation to the initial March hearing. The developer’s representative testified at length regarding the improvements made to the Project after the mediation including a new road layout to address neighbors’ concerns, adding a cul-de-sac, and drainage improvements. (Record at 95). When citizens were allowed to

comment on the project, they stated many of the same lay opinions, speculations and irrelevant comments as the Commission heard in March.

Prior to the vote, Commissioner Jane Jones referred to a letter from the local fire chief. She stated that the letter expressed concern about fire equipment accessing the subdivision (Record at 102). That letter was never placed in the record, however. Commissioner Moore made a motion to approve the project noting “they’ve done everything to address what they needed in order to move forward.” (*Id.*) There was no further discussion in the Commission’s deliberations and the motion to approve failed four to two. (*Id.*)

The Planning Commission communicated the decisions in writing on pre-printed forms. The asserted grounds contained on the preprinted forms were:

March 11 Form (Record at 21)	September 9 Form (Record at 43)
Handwritten comments under “other” “Based on infrastructure, schools, roads, and ‘energy services’.”	☒ “Compatibility with traffic levels.”
	☒ “Concerns for public, health (sic), safety, convenience, prosperity and general welfare.”

B. THE SUMMARY DECISION FORMS FAIL TO ARTICULATE DISCERNABLE GROUNDS FOR DENYING THE APPLICATION IN VIOLATION OF § 6-29-1150(B) AND PREVENT A MEANINGFUL REVIEW OF THE DECISIONS. ACCORDINGLY, REVERSAL IS REQUIRED UNDER *ALLIANCE*.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-360(B) requires a Planning Commission to adopt rules and keep a record of its findings and determinations, which must be a public record. As demonstrated in the table above, the stated grounds for the Commissions’ decisions were vague generalities and they were inconsistent. In the March hearing, Commissioner Jones made a motion to deny the project motion to deny the Application based on “the inadequacy of the infrastructure. That includes all phases of it, the schools, the roads, the emergency service, *all the different types of infrastructure.*”

(Record at 92). “All the infrastructure” is too broad and too general to allow a reviewing court to know the true basis for the decision. Moreover, it does not inform the Owner of what it can do to receive approval.

The Court in Alliance found that the record in that case lacked support necessary for the Court of Appeals to understand the Planning Commission’s approval of the project that had been challenged. The Greenville County Planning Commission violated S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-360(B) concerning the record of Planning Commission findings and it violated S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(B) that provides a record of all actions on all land development plans and subdivision plats must be maintained with the grounds for approval or disapproval and any conditions attached to the action.

Although we do not disagree with the Circuit Court’s ruling that the applicable statutes do not require the Planning Commission to issue a formal written decision setting forth findings of fact and conclusion of law, we are not convinced that the meeting minutes, meeting transcript, and ‘file material’ in this case provide a sufficient record to allow meaningful review of the Commission’s decision to approve RP&L’s preliminary subdivision application. We are unable to discern the grounds for approval as required by section 6-29-1150(B) from the record before us. There is nothing in the record indicating the Planning Commission’s reason for approval, and it is unclear what facts the Planning Commission deemed established. Moreover, we are unable to discern how the Planning Commission applied these ‘facts’ to the LDR and applicable zoning ordinances, nor can we decipher the divided Commission’s reasoning from its series of questions and answers. Accordingly, we reverse the circuit court’s finding that evidence exists in this record to support the decision of the Planning Commission.

447 S.C. at 658, 930 S.E.2d at 26.

Applying these principles to this appeal, while the Anderson Planning Commission did issue something of a written decision, the decision absolutely failed to convey the basis for that decision or what facts the Planning Commission deemed established according to Alliance. The written form decisions provided inconsistent reasons for denial. And, as discussed below, these reasons really were no more than pretextual and they were wholly without evidentiary or factual

support of any kind.

Notably, the Alliance Court addressed the issue of traffic concerns. It stated that the Appellant's traffic concerns were significant "because we see nothing in this record to suggest that existing transportation infrastructure will support The Stables as proposed. (Developer's Engineer) provided no testimony (or other evidence) that the *existing transportation infrastructure* will support The Stables. To the contrary, he indicated RP&L "will make improvements" to the road but did not specify what such improvements might entail other than 'whatever the County asks us to do.'" Alliance, 447 S.C. at 661, 930 S.E.2d at 28.

Finally, as was the case in Alliance, the Planning Commission's check-the-box forms do not identify which facts were found. These forms did not state what standards were applied, thereby thwarting the requirement of S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(B) that discernable grounds must be stated. Simply, Anderson County's procedures do not withstand scrutiny under the requirements of this Court as set forth in Alliance. Because the Commission failed to provide grounds, as required by Alliance, it is impossible to verify if the decision was based on substantial evidence as required by Wyndham, as discussed below.

C. THE PLANNING COMMISSION'S DECISIONS WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL AND MATERIAL EVIDENCE; THEREFORE THEY WERE ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.

This appeal is not about weighing the evidence. The law is clear that this is not within the authority of courts considering the decisions of Planning Commissions. Kurschner v. The City of Camden Planning Commission, 376 S.C. 165, 656 S.E.2d 346 (2008); Restaurant Row Associates v. Horry County, 335 S.C. 209, 516 S.E.2d 442 (1999). But, where there is no evidence, the decision must be reversed. Here, there is no evidence to support the Planning Commission's decisions.

In Wyndham Enterprises v. The City of North Augusta, 401 S.C. 144, 735 S.E.2d 659

(2012) (Ct. App. 2012), the Court of Appeals considered an appeal from a Board of Zoning Appeals. The reasoning of the Court is applicable to this case. The Court of Appeals found the BZA's decision was arbitrary and capricious. Just as here, the Board's decision to deny the requested exemption was based solely on opinion and conjecture. Specifically, at the hearing, local residents testified as to their concerns regarding the applicant, a fireworks business. Their concerns included an increase in traffic, decline in property values, and a detrimental impact on the character of the surrounding area. The Court found that the citizens' comments were based on speculation and opinion and that the testimony of the residents was not competent to support the denial of the exemption. 401 S.C. at 149-150; 735 S.E.2d at 662.

Regarding the residents' traffic concerns, we note that although there was testimony that residents felt the fireworks business would increase traffic, they failed to offer any competent evidence to support their opinions (Internal citations omitted). Multiple neighborhood residents provided accounts of problems exiting and entering the neighborhood at the location of the proposed fireworks business. However, this testimony failed to establish how adding the fireworks store would increase traffic problems in any way other than a conjectural manner. Additionally, the City's own traffic consultant determined the proposed fireworks business would not generate a significant amount of traffic.

401 S.C. at 150-151; 735 S.E.2d at 663.

It is also telling that the Court of Appeals determined that the Board's decision to give deference to residential neighborhoods outside of the commercial zoning district in which the fireworks decision would be located was arbitrary and capricious. "The record is void of any factual evidence to support the testimony that this particular fireworks business would have a detrimental impact on the character of the surrounding area." 401 S.C. at 151, 735 S.E.2d at 663. In this case, the Planning Commission ignored that its own staff stated that the Project complied with the land use regulations of Anderson County and elected simply to defer to generalized neighborhood opposition based on speculation, conjecture and anecdotal tales. And in denying the Application, the Commission invoked "All the infrastructure" as its stated grounds.

“All the infrastructure” is totally outside of the Owner/Developer’s control and implies there is nothing the Owner can do to meet whatever standards the Planning Commission applies to judge an application. That is by definition arbitrary and capricious. When the written decision was published from the March meeting, Appellant was told it was denied “Based on *infrastructure, schools, roads, and ‘energy services’*.” Obviously there was nothing in the record concerning “energy services.”

The Planning Commission’s decision based on “infrastructure” and roads is also legally insufficient. State statutes give the Planning Commission the ability to judge whether a planned subdivision has sufficient streets, traffic access and circulation “*in and through* new land developments” (S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1120(2)) and provide that regulation of land development is authorized for enumerated purposes. Likewise, S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1130 provides that the local Planning Commission may recommend to the governing body (County Council) regulations for the coordination of streets within subdivision and other types of land developments with other existing or planned streets. Nothing in 6-29-1120 or 1130 provides that a Planning Commission may deny a subdivision application based on surrounding streets as long as the subdivision has access to public roads.

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