THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jun 30 2026

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
In the Court of Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse,
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000024
Case No. 2025-CP-04-00784

Von Hollen Investment, LLC Appellant,

v.

Anderson County Planning Commission Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ANDERSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION

s/Todd Russell Flippin
HOLCOMBE BOMAR, P.A.
P.O. Box 1897
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 594-5300
Todd Russell Flippin, Esq.
S.C. Bar No. 101197
tflippin@holcombebomar.com

*Attorneys for Anderson County
Planning Commission*

June 29, 2026

Spartanburg, South Carolina

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE PLANNING COMMISSION’S GROUNDS FOR DENYING VON HOLLEN’S DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS WERE SET FORTH ON THE DECISION FORMS AND SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD AS REQUIRED BY § 6-29-1150(B) AND DEMONSTRATED IN ALLIANCE. ACCORDINGLY, THE CIRCUIT COURT’S ORDER SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

A. The Regulatory Scheme Governing Preliminary Subdivision Applications in Anderson County are Consistent with the Enabling Act.

The General Assembly in 1994 enacted the S.C. Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994, S.C. Code Ann. § 6–29–310, *et al.* The Act authorizes counties to undertake reasonable land use planning and zoning tools to guide land uses and development in the community. The functions and duties of a local planning commission, when created by a county council, include the implementation of technical standards and the enforcement of aspirational objectives. In particular, the planning commission is to

undertake a continuing planning program for the physical, social, and economic growth, development, and redevelopment of the area within its jurisdiction. The plans and programs must be designed to promote public health, safety, morals, convenience, prosperity, or the general welfare as well as the efficiency and economy of its area of jurisdiction.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-340(A). Planning commissions are charged with maintaining a planning process to “guide the development and redevelopment” of a county. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-510(A). To that end, planning commissions are granted powers to exercise two main policy functions: to prepare comprehensive plans and amendments thereto and to recommend ordinances, policies, and procedures to the local governing body. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-340(B).

These policy functions include the power to recommend subdivision regulations for land development within the county. The purpose of these regulations include “the harmonious development of the municipality and the county” ... “to create conditions favorable to health,

safety, convenience, appearance, prosperity, or the general welfare.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1130(A). A county’s land development regulations “must include a specific procedure for the submission and approval or disapproval by the planning commission .” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(A).

Anderson County’s ordinances, as authorized by the Enabling Act, define the Anderson County Planning Commission’s duties when weighing the appropriateness of subdivision development applications. See Anderson County Ordinances, Sec. 24. The principal purposes of Anderson County’s land use ordinances include protecting “land values through good and responsible development,” conserving the county’s “natural and scenic resources for future generations to enjoy,” and securing “the safety of residents from the hazards of improper development.” Sec. 24-25. Any subdivision development must be submitted to and approved by the planning commission before being filed or recorded. Sec. 24-50(d).

Anderson County’s ordinances include specific rules for subdivision development because “[t]here are few activities that have a more lasting effect upon our community’s environment and appearance.” Sec. 24-304(a). These ordinances include aspirational, sometimes intangible, values to be weighed along with the technical design standards controlling subdivision developments.

The people of the county have a legitimate interest in the development of subdivisions and these subdivision regulations are designed to provide the county with an instrument to control such development. The ultimate purpose of subdivision regulations is the same as that of all planning regulations; namely, the creation of a better community for the citizens of a county. Specific objectives of these subdivision regulations include ... (6) To balance the interests of the homeowner, the public, and the subdivider.

Ord. § 24-304(b).

Anderson County Ordinance §§ 24-335 and 24-336 apply to the preliminary approval process for subdivisions and set forth the information that must be contained in developer’s

application and preliminary plat for review by planning staff. The preliminary subdivision plat submitted for approval must include 18 categories of data. § 24-336. The planning staff reviews the application against the County's technical development standards. §§ 24-401 through 24-488. The planning staff is authorized to reject, subject to appeal to the planning commission, any application failing to comply with these technical criteria. § 24-335(xxx).

Anderson County Council amended land use ordinance 24-335 with ordinance number 2024-042. R. p. ___. According to the amendment "the land use administrator shall send a copy of the preliminary plat for review and comments to the appropriate school district, fire marshal, EMS, the utility providers, and the South Carolina Department of Transportation (DOT), if state roads are impacted." §24-335(2). The input received from these regulators, utilities, and service providers are included in the planning staff report and contribute to the record the planning commission relies upon to approve or disapprove land development applications.

After the planning staff reviews the subdivision plat and confirms it meets the technical standards described above, the planning staff presents the preliminary subdivision plat to the Commission for consideration at one of its monthly, public meetings. At the Planning Commission meeting, the planning staff present the development application, the developer or owner, along with members of the public are invited to speak regarding the project.

In addition to planning staff report, the Planning Commission must also consider the following criteria when making its decision regarding a preliminary subdivision application:

1. Public health, safety, convenience, prosperity, and the general welfare.
2. Balancing the interests of subdividers, homeowners, and the public.
3. The effects of the proposed development on the local tax base.
4. The ability of existing or planned infrastructure and transportation systems to serve the proposed development.

§ 24-335(4)(d).

The Anderson County Planning Commission uses a form (“Decision Form”) to record its decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny each preliminary subdivision application. In order to report the grounds for their decision, the Planning Commission may select from one or more of several categories consistent with the design standards and aspirational goals of the County’s ordinances. Alternatively, or in addition to the listed categories, the Planning Commission may hand-write or append other grounds for their decision.

- | | |
|---|--|
| ☐ Compatibility with Future Land Use Map | ☐ The recommendation of staff |
| ☐ Compatibility with Traffic Levels | ☐ Compatibility with surrounding properties |
| ☐ Compatibility with Density Levels | ☐ Use and value of surrounding properties |
- ☐ Concerns for public, health, safety, convenience, prosperity and general welfare,
☐ Concerns for the balance of the interest of sub-dividers, homeowners and public.
☐ Concerns for the effects of the proposed development on the local tax base.
☐ Concerns for the ability of existing or planned infrastructure and transportation system to serve the proposed development.

R., at p. ___ & p. ___. The grounds provided on the pre-printed forms are drawn directly from the ordinances controlling preliminary subdivision applications in Anderson County.

B. The Planning Commission Must Make a Record of its Decision to Approve or Deny a Subdivision Application and Provide the Grounds for that Decision.

The Enabling Act requires the Planning Commission maintain as a public record “all actions on all land development plans and subdivision plats with the grounds for approval or disapproval....” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(B). As has been repeatedly recognized, the statutes governing planning commission review of development applications are distinct from those controlling zoning boards of appeal. *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Commission*, 376 S.C. 165, 173-74, 656 S.E.2d 346, 351 (2008) (“We refuse to apply a standard of review different from the any evidence standard in this case, for any other standard of review would be contrary to the legislature's intent in granting a planning commission broad discretion in this area.”); *All. to Pres.*

the Old White Horse Rd. Corridor, LLC v. RP&L, LLC, 447 S.C. 649, --- S.E.2d ----, 2026 WL 1017527, *4 (Ct. App. 2026), *reh'g denied* (May 28, 2026) (agreeing with the trial court's ruling that the Enabling Act does not “require the Planning Commission to issue a formal written decision setting forth findings of fact and conclusions of law”).

In contrast, when a zoning board of appeals approves or disapproves a variance from a zoning ordinance, “[a]ll findings of fact and conclusions of law must be separately stated in final decisions or orders of the board which must be delivered to parties of interest by certified mail.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-800(F); *see also*, Ordinance Sec. 24-56(d) (providing that all final decisions of the board of zoning appeals “shall be in writing” and include “findings of fact and conclusions of law”). That same requirement, however, was not made of a local planning commission, likely in recognition of the differing roles the two bodies play. Importantly, the absence of the requirement for a formal decision with findings of fact and conclusions of law in the statute governing a local planning commission demonstrates that the General Assembly did not intend to require such a formal decision when a planning commission considers a preliminary subdivision application. Simply stated, the requirement for recording “grounds for approval or disapproval” is not the equivalent of setting forth “findings of fact and conclusions of law.”

Appellant argues that when it denied its preliminary subdivision application, the Planning Commission failed to “convey the basis for that decision” which “were no more than pretextual and ... wholly without evidentiary or factual support of any kind.” (Brief, p. 9). Inarguably, the Planning Commission’s decision forms from its hearings on March 11, and September 9, indicate the Commission’s grounds for disapproval. R. p. ___ & p. ___. The question for this Court is whether the record includes *any* evidence consistent with *any* of the grounds cited by the Planning Commission. Because the Planning Commission’s decision was supported by record evidence, the

Court should affirm the circuit court's decision affirming the denial of Appellant's development application.

C. The Grounds Cited in the Planning Commission's March 11, 2025, Decision were Adequately Supported by Record Evidence.

Appellant's development application for a subdivision named Riverdale was before the Planning Commission for the first time on March 11, 2025. (R. p. ____). The Commission's denial of the application was recorded on a Decision Form indicating "infrastructure, schools, roads, and energy services" as grounds for the decision. (R. p. ____). These grounds were each supported by record¹ evidence received by the Planning Commission at the hearing.

Riverdale's preliminary application sought approval of 52 residential lots on 82.79 acres. (R. p. ____). The preliminary plat included three entrances to the neighborhood, one on Three Bridges Rd. and two on Von Hollen Drive. (R. pp. ____). An overhead view of the existing density of the area shows a residential neighborhood that exists onto Three Bridges Road at its intersection with Von Hollen Drive. *Id.* Several existing homes front Von Hollen Drive across from two proposed entrances to Riverdale.

An email from SCDOT's District 2 Permit Engineer² indicates that he reviewed the preliminary plat, but did not "visit the site to verify anything in the field." R. p. _____. Easley Combined Utilities advised the planning staff that it did not have capacity to service the Riverdale development. R. p. _____.

¹ The record before the Planning Commission consists of Appellant's development application, the planning staff's file, which includes correspondence with various community stakeholders the staff solicit for input, the transcript of the Planning Commission meeting, and the Decision Form used to record the Planning Commission's decision. R. p. ____, p. ____, p. ____, & p. _____.

² SCDOT's input regarding Riverdale was solicited by the planning staff in accordance with Ordinance 2024-042, which amended § 24-335(2) to require the agency's comments on any project abutting state-maintained roads such as Three Bridges Road.

At the March 11 Planning Commission hearing, the developer's engineer, Kevin Tumblin, presented the project. He provided that "one of the Hornbuckle neighbors asked me about stormwater runoff. So I told him, there is a portion of our site that drains into that development, but because of the way we're doing it, we'll have to capture that water and divert it to the detention ponds on our site. So hopefully it'll improve their situation." R. p. ___ Ln. ___ to p. ___ Ln. ___.

Several members of the public spoke in opposition to the Riverdale project. One speaker was an environmental engineer named Dan Curry, who owns a home on Hornbuckle that backs up to the proposed development. He testified that he was concerned about drainage because "water flows downhill and it will flow right onto my property. We already have an issue with stormwater running off in the backyards, across those property lines, washing out everything in the backyard." (R. p. ___ 20:8-28). Mr. Curry described video footage from a recent storm that he was willing to share with the Commission.

Mr. Curry also raised concerns about the condition of Von Hollen Road. (R. p. ___ 20:30-42). He described the road as not in a condition to handle more traffic, where two cars can barely pass each other on that road, and as being in "very, very poor shape." Mr. Curry pointed to the staff report where a SCDOT representative admitted that he did not conduct a site visit. The environmental engineer also addressed the project's reliance on septic service, which he testified would threaten area wetlands because the soil does not percolate. R. p. ___ (20:45-50).

Shannon McCombs, a resident on Von Hollen Drive, emotionally described that a car lost control and crashed into trees that were the only thing preventing the vehicle from penetrating into her daughter's bedroom. R. p. ___ (21:15-22:24). She described South Carolina as having the highest rural road fatality rate in the nation with Von Hollen Drive and Three Bridges Road among the most hazardous roads in Powdersville. In addition to these dangers, she described the gridlock on

Three Bridges Road and the lack the dedicated fire and police support available in the unincorporated area. Ms. McCombs also spoke from her perspective as a former middle school teacher and reported that overcrowding in local schools was already a crisis. Likewise, Kathleen DiPasquale complained that Concrete Elementary School already required portables to support their student population. R. p. __ (23:48-25:11).

Paul Nichols, also a resident of Hornbuckle Drive, echoed the other speakers' concerns and described the strained infrastructure causing traffic at the stop signs on Three Bridges Road. R. p. __ (22:30-23:45). Despite owning a business that depends on growth, Mr. Nichols complained of existing infrastructure problems including low water pressure, which he believed would worsen with additional housing units.

Also speaking that night was Michael Dent, who described his experience as an insurance professional. R. p. __ (25:26-26:33). Mr. Dent reported that the frequency and severity of auto accidents is rising. This problem was exacerbated in the unincorporated area due to a lack of continuous law enforcement presence to deter speeding and reckless driving. Relatedly, he reported that the all-volunteer fire department responded to over 601 calls in the previous year. As to overcrowded schools, Mr. Dent pointed out that portables could be accessed without going through the school's checkpoints, resulting in risk to student safety.

After the public comments, Mr. Tumblin responded that as "far as the schools, I didn't, I didn't say anything about the schools. I haven't heard from staff that there's a problem here. Maybe there is." R. p. __ (29:2-30). "The big picture questions ... I can't really address are questions for the state or Anderson County."

Commissioner Jane Jones moved to "deny the project based on ... the inadequacy of the infrastructure. That's including all phases of it, the schools, the roads, the emergency service." R.

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